UNITED
NATIONS E

Distr.

Economic and Social GENERAL

Council

E/ C. 12/ 1999/ SR. 4
30 April 1999

Original: ENGLISH

COVM TTEE ON ECONOM C, SOCI AL AND CULTURAL RI GHTS
Twenti eth session
SUMMVARY RECORD OF THE 4t h MEETI NG

Hel d at the Palais des Nations, Geneva,
on Tuesday, 27 April 1999, at 3 p.m

Chai rperson Ms. BONOAN- DANDAN

CONTENTS
CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS:

(a) REPORTS SUBM TTED BY STATES PARTI ES | N ACCORDANCE W TH ARTI CLES 16
AND 17 OF THE COVENANT.

Second periodic report of Iceland (continued)

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submtted in one of the working | anguages. They
shoul d be set forth in a nmenorandum and al so incorporated in a copy of the
record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this docunent to
the Oficial Records Editing Section, roomE. 4108, Pal ais des Nations, Ceneva

Any corrections to the records of the neetings of the Cormittee at this
session will be consolidated in a single corrigendumto be issued shortly
after the end of the session.

GE. 99- 41307 (E)



E/ C 12/ 1999/ SR. 4
page 2

The neeting was called to order at 3.05 p.m

CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS:

(a) REPORTS SUBM TTED BY STATES PARTI ES | N ACCORDANCE W TH ARTI CLES 16
AND 17 OF THE COVENANT (agenda item 8) (conti nued)

Second periodic report of Iceland (E/ 1990/6/Add. 15;
E/C. 12/ Q | CE/ 1; HR/ CESCR/ NONE/ 1999/ 2) (conti nued)

1. At the invitation of the Chairperson, the delegation of Iceland resunmed
their places at the Conmittee table

2. The CHAIRPERSON invited M. Grissa to take the floor and infornmed the
Comrittee that the delegation had indicated its readiness to conclude its
answers to the first set of issues (E/C.12/QICE/1).

3. M. GRISSA referring to paragraphs 33 to 36 of the second periodic
report of Ilceland (E/ 1990/6/Add. 15) headed “lnequality in remuneration for
wor k of equal value” (article 7 of the Covenant), recalled that the Icelandic
Gover nnment had appoi nted a working group to oversee the execution of a study
on equal renuneration of women and nen in government institutions. He
remarked that the fact that wonmen earned 70 per cent of nen's wages for work
of equal value signalled a gross disparity and wondered what the outcone of
the study had been.

4, The CHAI RPERSON i nvited the del egation to conclude their answers on the
first chapter of the list of issues (E/C 12/Q ICE 1).

5. Ms. ARNLJOTSDOTTIR (lceland), referring to the incorporation of the
Covenant into domestic law, said that the Mnistry of Justice, had expressed
the viewto her that all the main aspects of the Covenant were reflected in
Icel andic | egislation. Exanples were given in paragraphs 23, 24 and 25 of the
report.

6. According to anended article 76 (1995) of the Icelandic Constitution,
any person needi ng assistance on the grounds of illness, disability, ageing
unenpl oynent, severe poverty or other conparable reason was guaranteed such
assi stance by law. Equally the right to educati on was guaranteed according to
t he needs of each individual, and children were ensured appropriate protection
and care by | aw

7. To illustrate the influence of the courts, she cited the exanple of a
bl i nd student who had, the previous year, won a case in the high court against
the University of Iceland for not providing services comrensurate with her
needs, and who had been duly conpensated by the university. It was believed
that human rights would have a nore significant inpact in years to come on

| egislation, in the courts and in public adm nistration in general.

8. The Icel andi c Governnent wel comed the work of the Icelandic Human Ri ghts
Centre and hoped that nuch would be gained fromtheir input. In answer to a



E/ C. 12/ 1999/ SR. 4
page 3

gquestion concerning the University Institution of Human Ri ghts, she said that
the University and the Human Ri ghts Centre were cooperating closely under a
speci al agreenent between them

9. She hoped she had answered fully all the questions posed by the
Committee and, if not, welcomed the opportunity to supplenent the information
given orally with witten answers.

10. The CHAI RPERSON rem nded the del egation that some questions were still
out st andi ng, including questions relating to disability and specific cases.

11. M. SADI said it was reassuring to know that the Icelandic authorities
bel i eved the Covenant was reflected in donestic |egislation. However, the
Comrittee would like to have nore concrete exanples as to whether, for
exampl e, the provisions of the Covenant had been tested in a court of |aw

12. M. RIEDEL, endorsing M. Sadi's position, also requested specific
exanpl es regarding the status of the Covenant. Delegations had a tendency to
reply with long lists of enacted statutes. However, that could lead to

i mportant information being omtted. Considering that the exchange between
the Cormittee and the del egation was a dialogue, it was acceptable to admt to
deficiencies and to nention action plans or national policies ained at

i npl enenting the provisions of the Covenant.

13. Ms. ARNLJOTSDOTTIR (Il cel and) said she regretted the absence of a
representative fromthe Mnistry of Justice. The nenbers of her del egation
represented the Mnistries of Health, Social Affairs and Education, Science
and Culture. However, in the light of a recent conversation with an expert of
the Mnistry of Justice, she did not think that the Covenant had ever been
directly invoked in a court of law or that there was any specific reference to
it in any itemof donmestic |egislation. The sanme was true for other
international instrunments. Wuld the Committee |like to proceed with an
article-by-article exam nation of the Covenant to determ ne whether there was
any corresponding |celandic |egislation?

14. M. RIEDEL, stressing the need to focus on the principal issues, said
that it would be unreasonable to expect such information to be provided in the
absence of a representative fromthe Mnistry of Justice, since the questions
had rel ated specifically to that Mnistry. However, nention could be made in
the Committee's Concludi ng Observations of the absence of a representative of
that Mnistry. On the other hand, if the Mnistry could send the appropriate
information to the Conmttee by the end of the week, it could be taken into
account.

15. Ms. ARNLJOTSDOTTIR (I cel and) agreed with the suggestion and asked
whet her questions could be set out in witing.

16. The CHAI RPERSON said that the Conmittee needed to have specific exanples
that the Covenant had i ndeed been incorporated into donestic |aw.  She
referred to the specific question posed by M. Pillay and M. Texier regarding
the fact that nmore wei ght seened to be given to the International Covenant on
Civil and Political Rights and asked when the Governnent intended to give




E/C. 12/ 1999/ SR 4
page 4

equal inportance to both Covenants. She then asked the del egation to answer
guestions relating to non-discrimnation, referring in particular to
M. Wner's question on mgrant workers.

17. Ms. BALDURSDOTTIR (I cel and) replied that migrant workers in Iceland
number ed approxi mately 3,000, representing 1 per cent of the popul ation.

Al though originally, by its very nanme, |celand had been extrenely insular,

whi ch probably accounted for its small nunber of immgrants, it did wel cone

m grant workers, and to her know edge there was no discrimnation against
them Should there be any suspicion of discrimnation, especially against

Eur opean Econom c Area (EEA) nationals, it would be referred to the Conplaints
Committee. |In fact, the conmttee had recently considered three cases. She
was pleased to say in response to M. Wner's question, that there was no

evi dence of mmjor social problens affecting mgrant workers

18. The CHAI RPERSON rem nded the del egation that there were outstandi ng
gquestions to be answered under article 3 on equality between nen and wonen.

19. Ms. BALDURSDOTTIR (I celand), in answer to M. Ceausu's question
concerni ng obstacles to gender equality, said that there was no ful

expl anation for the observed inequality, but pointed out that gender i nbal ance
exi sted throughout the world. She referred the Commttee to Iceland's witten
replies (HR/ CESCR/ NONE/ 1999/2) for the answer to the question regarding the

di sparity between what was contained in | aw and what was observed in practice
The Governnent was attenpting to address the issue through various action
progranmes, wonen's rights associations and the Governnment's Four-year Pl an of
Action on Gender Equality. The Equal Status Conplaints Conmittee had the

| egal right to make recommendati ons and to take cases before a court of |aw,
which it had in fact done on several occasions. Both the Equal Status Act and
the Committee were under review. The Act constituted an attenpt by the

I cel andi ¢ Governnent to change what was in fact a gl obal phenonenon. Even
though simlar or worse situations existed in other countries, that was no
excuse. Iceland was not content with sinply having a high ranking but ainmed
to be the best.

20. In reply to M. Grissa's question regarding wage differentials between
wonmen and nmen, she said that a working group had been set up to determ ne the
reasons for the wage gap. The working group had reconmended that an
experimental project be |aunched involving two bodies, a State body and a
private entity, to inplenent a gender-neutral system of occupati onal
assessnment (E/ 1990/6/Add. 15, paragraph 37). A committee consisting of a group
of specialists fromthe Mnistry of Social Affairs, the Equal Status Counci
and the Reykjavic community had been established to prepare a report on the
subject. It had been hoped that the report would be conpleted before the

el ections due to be held in early May 1999, but it m ght be delayed until the
end of May.

21. The CHAI RPERSON rem nded the del egation that a question by
M. Antanovich remained to be answered.

22. M. GRISSA said that he regretted to have to point out that the
exi stence of a deficiency in one country did not justify a deficiency in
anot her country. The Committee hoped to learn fromlceland' s experience. The



E/ C. 12/ 1999/ SR. 4
page 5

country had a small popul ation, approximtely 250,000, the size of a town in

other countries. |Indeed, it had a rich cultural and denocratic heritage and
enjoyed a high per capita incone. Being small, it should find it easier to
sol ve certain problens. Iceland certainly should not be conpared with |arger

countries such as India or China.

23. M. SADI, echoing M. Gissa' s sentinents, said that the elusive nature
of gender equality was no excuse not to attenpt to find solutions to the
problem He noted that Iceland had a Plan of Action (1998 to 2001) to address
the matter. However, he would |ike to know what efforts were being made to

i nprove women's access to parlianent. For exanple, other countries had

i mpl emented a quota systemin the formof what was called affirmative action
or positive discrimnation. Did Iceland envisage introducing a quota system
to enhance wonen's participation in parlianment?

24. M. CEAUSU, thanking the delegation for the answers they had provided to
the Cormmittee's questions, reassured themthat when the Comm ttee asked
gquestions or nmade comrents, it was with the intention of encouraging dial ogue
and not to pass categorical judgenent on their country's situation. It was
true that Iceland had made progress since the |ast report. However, the
Comrittee would like nore details on the causes for the gap between reality
and what was contained in legislation. He commended Iceland on the fact that
they had drafted | aws that sought to redress the inequality between wonen and
men, especially with regard to sal ari es.

25. He noted that an Equal Status Conplaints Comrmittee had been set up and
that it could make recommendati ons or bring |egal action before a court of |aw
in consultation with a party. However, why did the injured party not have the
right to bring a case before the court? Surely that would bypass the
presumably | ong procedure via the Equal Status Conplaints Committee.

26. M. PILLAY wel coned the admi ssion that equality did not exist in
practice although provided for in legislation. However, if there was a | ega
right then there should be a legal renedy for injured parties, or those rights
could not be enforced. That Ied himto question the veracity of the

del egation's clains that although the Convention's provisions were not
expressed in donestic |legislation, they were in fact inplenented and to wonder
whet her they were not just useless words on paper. The del egation had said
that wage disparities existed in the public sector. It was correct to say
that such disparities existed throughout the world, especially in the private
sector. It therefore should be easy to take renedial action, especially as

I cel and was one of the richest countries, small in size, as nmentioned earlier,
and aware of the problem He welconed the plan of action but thought that it
woul d have been easy, since the legislation already existed, to help people to
bring cases agai nst the Government and wi n punitive damages.

27. Ms. BALDURSDOTTIR (| cel and) apol ogi zed for conparing Iceland with other
countries and expl ai ned that she had sinply wanted to denonstrate the

magni tude of the cultural problem The Equal Status Act was one way of
conmbating discrimnation. 1t was precisely because the Governnment realized
that the Act did not adequately provide for the protection of the rights of
wonmen and nmen that it was currently under revision.




E/ C. 12/ 1999/ SR. 4
page 6

28. There was no | egal provision for a quota systemto increase wonen's
participation in parlianment. However, sonme political parties did practise
such a system The Mnister of Social Affairs had, the previous year, set up
a conmttee, in the light of the elections scheduled for 8 May 1999,
consisting of representatives of all political parties and the Equal Status
Council. Since then, that conmttee had introduced advertisements, held
nmeetings and spoken to wormen in politics in order to encourage them Meetings
had al so been held with the chairpersons of each political party with a view
to increasing the nunber of wonen in parliament.

29. The Equal Status Conplaints Coormittee could take a case to court but
only at the request of the individual. The individual could enforce his or
her right before the court but the Equal Status Conplaints Comrittee's role
was confined to offering assistance. She disagreed with M. Pillay that the
| egislation mght be just usel ess words on paper, because gender equality
reports had shown that significant changes had been regi stered since 1991.
However, there were still areas, such as the wage differential, that needed

i mprovi ng.

30. The CHAI RPERSON i nvited Committee nmenbers to ask questions pertaining to
the specific provisions of the Covenant.

31. M. CEAUSU referring to paragraph 44 of the witten replies concerning
the right of foreign residents to work in Iceland, wondered whether the fact

that foreigners who were not European Economic Area (EEA) citizens needed to

reside in the country for three years before they could be issued with a work
permt nmeant that such persons were prevented fromearning a |living during

t hat peri od.

32. Ms. BALDURSDOTTIR (| cel and) expl ai ned that such persons were issued a
tenporary work permt until the three years had el apsed

33. M. AHVMED pointed out that, as stated in the report, the tenporary
permt was not in fact issued directly to applicants, but to their enployers,
t hereby depriving the former of the right to choose their enploynent, placing
them at the nmercy of the enployer, and discrimnating against themvis-a-vis
EEA citizens, to whomthe tenporary work permt was issued directly.

Secondly, it appeared fromthe report that foreigners were still prey to

di scrim natory practices in the formof denial of the right to engage in
commercial fishing in Icelandic waters and of access to electricity for other
t han donestic use.

34. Ms. BALDURSDOTTIR (I cel and) acknow edged the truth of the first part of
M. Ahned' s remarks concerning the issue of the tenporary work permt. She
said she would respond to the second part after consulting her Government.

35. M. W NMER ZAMBRANO asked the del egation to indicate the specific
obst acl es encountered by lceland in acceding to |ILO Convention No. 138
concerning M nimum Age for Adm ssion to Enploynent, admttedly a very

compl i cated convention which Iceland was not alone in failing to sign.




E/ C. 12/ 1999/ SR. 4
page 7

36. The CHAI RPERSON suggested that the del egation m ght wi sh nore tine to
gather the information it needed to answer the question and that they m ght do
so at the follow ng neeting.

37. M. THAPALI A observed that, despite the recommendati ons made to |cel and
in the 1993 Econom c and Social Council report and the 1996 report of the
Committee for the Elimnation of Discrimnation against Wonen to intensify
its efforts to elimnate persisting gender disparities, it was clear from
paragraph 36 of Iceland' s report that huge wage inequalities still existed

He wondered what specific neasures Iceland, as a party to the Covenant on
Economi ¢, Social and Cultural Rights, was taking to inplement the

af orenenti oned recomendati ons.

38. M. TEXIER acknow edging the statenent contained in Iceland s report to
the effect that all workers were covered by collective agreenents with regard
to m ni num wage, w shed to know whether there was any specific body to whom
they could appeal in the event the | aw was violated. Also, since the report
was silent on the subject of accidents in the workplace, he asked the

del egation to provide work-rel ated accident statistics and to informthe
Comrittee of any neasures taken to reduce them

39. M. AHMED asked for clarification concerning yet another anomaly
connected with work and one that could easily be renedi ed: under

Act 133/1994, neither citizens of EEA countries nor their foreign spouses
required a work pernmit to work in Iceland, while a foreign wife of an
Icelandic citizen did.

40. Ms. BALDURSDOTTIR (I cel and), responding to M. Thapalia's question
concerni ng gender equality, explained that a bill containing action programmes
was submitted to Parlianment every four years and that both the previous and
current action programmes dealt with those issues. Replying to M. Texier's
question, she said that any underpai d non-unionized workers were free to take
their case to court personally.

41. M. TEXI ER asked for a nore precise answer concerning the m ni mum wage.
It was no secret that |egal provisions were often not respected in many
countries. His own country had anple |egislation governing the m ni mum wage,
but when it was not respected | egal renedies were available in the formof the
Onmbudsman, the Court of Appeal and finally the Court of Cassation. He had
wanted to know what occurred when that |aw was not respected in Icel and

42. Ms. BALDURSDOTTIR (I cel and) said that since the ninimumwage was set by
col | ective bargaining agreements, it was not governed by |law, but that to the
best of her know edge there had been no cases in Iceland of breaches of those
coll ective agreenents.

43. M. GRISSA expressed the view that once a mni num wage was set by
col l ective bargaining, it became legal, and reiterated the question regarding
the consequences of any breaches of such agreenents.



E/ C. 12/ 1999/ SR. 4
page 8

44, Ms. BALDURSDOTTIR (I cel and) agreed that although the mni num wage was
established by collective bargaining between the social partners and not by
Parlianment, there was a de facto | aw since there was |egislation stipulating
that enployers were required to pay the agreed anount.

45. M. AHMED pointed out that something very close to a | egal m ni mum wage
existed in Iceland and could be deduced froma study prepared by the Icel andic
Census Bureau, which established at | SK 133,000 per nonth the |iving cost of
an average |cel ander, and that approximtely 10 per cent of the popul ation
lived bel ow the poverty line, presumably with reference to that figure.
Exanpl es included single disabled persons, who received 57 per cent of the

i ncome of a working person, and di sabl ed coupl es, who received 68 per cent

of the income of a working couple.

46. The CHAI RPERSON i nvited nembers to put to the del egation their questions
concerning articles 8 and 9 on trade union rights and the right to soci al
security.

47. M. RIEDEL asked the del egation how it explained the fact, stated in an
NGO report, that despite the country's highly devel oped social security system
for the disabled, their nunmbers were still on the increase and they were
constrained to seek financial assistance from non-governnental organizations.
In connection with question 16, he sought clarification of the effect of
article 9 on the 1993 Social Security Act and wi shed to know how marital

status and househol d size affected the income of a disabl ed person.

48. M. PILLAY said that since the right to social security was enshrined in
the Icelandic Constitution, it would appear that the poor were entitled to
financial assistance fromthe State. Wile Iceland' s social security system
was good, what renedial action was |Iceland, one of the world s richest
countries, taking to address the problem of the 10 per cent of the popul ation
living in poverty? Did the Government envisage increasing social security

al | owances, which were indeed the lowest in the Nordic countries?

49. Ms. ARNLJOTSDOTTIR (I cel and) agreed that lceland s welfare expenditure
was | ow conpared with that of nost countries for a nunber of reasons: it had
a | ower unenpl oyment rate, a younger popul ation and a | ower proportion of

di sabl ed persons, and nmany di sabl ed and ol der persons had jobs. Also |ower
wel fare expenditure went hand in hand with | ower personal inconme taxation.
Citing a report fromthe Icelandic National Institution of Statistics, she
expl ai ned that only 12 OECD countries took part in harnonized statistics on
wel fare expenditure and the statistics only covered the general covenant, so
that Iceland' s pensions funds were excluded. However, Iceland s spending on
di sabl ed peopl e, which cane under the Mnistry of Social Affairs, had been
increasing on a yearly basis. In 1999 it was approxinmately 13 per cent higher
than in 1996 and 25 per cent higher than in 1993. At the same tinme, welfare
expendi ture had increased by 50 per cent since 1990, so that it was clear that
the Governnent was increasing expenditure on the disabled and on socia
security in general

50. Wth regard to marital status, the social security |egislation was based
on a person's actual status: it consisted of a basic pension, with an
addi ti onal allowance for persons living in a single household. Parlianent had



E/ C. 12/ 1999/ SR. 4
page 9

been di scussing the subject since 1936 and had al ways agreed that each
i ndi vi dual case should be studied, although it had recently been decided to
decrease the influence of a spouse's incone.

51. Replying to M. Riedel's question concerning the NGO report that

di sabl ed persons living with a child did not qualify for the household grant,
she was happy to informthe Commttee that as of 1 April 1999, the situation
has been changed, proof of the inportance that Iceland assigned to the input
of NGOs and society as a whol e.

52. M. RIEDEL thanked the del egation for the good news on inprovenents, but
asked whether there had been any dramatic change in the situation of NGOs
caring for the disabled and having to supplenent their benefits. According to
the NGO report, a study by the National Economc Institute had shown that the
i nconmes of a single disabled person and a di sabl ed couple were respectively
only 57 per cent and 68 per cent of the income of their working peers; was

t hat probl em bei ng addressed?

53. Ms. ARNLJOTSDOTTIR (I cel and) pointed out that disabled |one parents had
on average the sane income as |one parents el sewhere in Icelandic society even
prior to the changes of 1 April, so the situation was inproving. |nportant

di scussi ons had been held on that issue in recent nonths.

54. M. PILLAY felt his question had not been answered. G ven

that 10 per cent of the population were living below the poverty line, surely
they were not receiving the necessary financial assistance and welfare
expenditure to |l eave the cycle of poverty. What was the Government doing to
all eviate their situation?

55. M. AHVED quoting the Icelandic Human Ri ghts Centre, said that
apparently up to 1,300 disability pensioners annually sought aid fromthe

Lut heran Church Aid Agency, a figure which had increased 57 per cent over the
past four years. Was the Lutheran Church Aid Agency so rich that it could
hel p the Government provide for the disabled, or was it being funded by the
Government? What was the source of its funds?

56. Ms. BALDURSDOTTIR (I cel and) drew attention to the way the poverty line
was defined. As part of a broader Nordic study, the Social Sciences Institute
of the University had published a study based on a relative definition of
poverty “at 50 per cent of nedian equivalent famly earnings”. By that
definition, poverty would never be elimnated. Moreover, the report had only
surveyed earnings from enpl oynent and had not taken into account pensions and
child benefits.

57. Ms. ARNLJOTSDOTTIR (I cel and) had no figures on the nature or anpunt of
aid provided by the Lutheran Church, but assuned the NGO figures were correct.
I cel and had a m xed system based on the Social Security Act and | ocal
authority social assistance, in addition to funds including pensions and funds
for disabled people based on collective agreenents. Enployed persons who
becanme invalids received paynents fromthe funds. Paynents to the disabled
and invalids had been increasing, and the situation of those vul nerable groups
woul d hopefully continue to inprove.




E/ C. 12/ 1999/ SR. 4
page 10

58. M. AHMED asked what the source of the Lutheran Church's wealth was.
Did the Government fund the Church?

59. Ms. ARNLJOTSDOTTIR (Il cel and) said that although as a national church the
Lut heran Church did receive paynments fromthe State, its Aid Agency was an

i ndependent institution, whose incone cane mainly fromindependent private
sources and the general popul ation.

60. Ms. JI MENEZ BUTRAGUENO asked about a compari son between the m ni num
wage and the mni mum pension for ol der persons. Iceland s three-tier social
system was very conplicated and governed by many different laws. How did it
affect the standard of living? How did savings affect pensions? Did a person
with no savings receive the same pension? As she understood it, pensions were
contributory by enployers and enpl oyees. |In Spain, taxes were paid towards
pensi ons, and pensions did not depend on savings, but on contributions during
a person's working life. Did pensions in Iceland depend solely on income?
Income inevitably fell after retirenent, but how dramatic was the difference
in Iceland?

61. Ms. ARNLJOTSDOTTIR (Il cel and) said that, 1999 being the United Nations
International Year of the Elderly, their status had been wi dely discussed and
their situation was hopefully inproving. Like nost societies, |Iceland faced
a growi ng group of active ol der persons, who renai ned heal thier |onger and
wanted to participate in society. Good wages were a part of that right. As
stated in the report, the Social Security Act ensured a basic pension to al
persons from 67 years of age, and suppl enentary paynents could increase that
further if there was no incone from another source. The three-pillar system
consi sted of the basic pension (based on incone fromwork), the capital-funded
pensi on system (obligatory for all workers) and savings; all were treated
differently with regard to neans testing for basic pensions and soci al
security supplenents. It was difficult to say whether the basic pension was
adequat e, but the CGovernment had set up commttees to |ook into that and
simlar issues, and discussions between the Prine Mnister, the Mnister of
Health, the Mnister of Social Affairs and representatives from groups of the
el derly had already led to one recent change in paynents to the elderly.

62. M. ANTANOVI CH had not received an answer to his question of that
morning on the work of the comnmttees for equality of rights between nen and

wonmen at community level. Referring to article 10 and the list of issues, he

noted that the bill on paternity |eave had been adopted, but it was not stated
whet her maternity | eave had been extended fromsix to seven nmonths. When was

the | eave granted, i.e. how many nonths before or after the birth of the

child? Was salary preserved, or calcul ated by another formul a? Regarding
paragraph 64 (a) of the report (E/ 1990/6/Add.15), financial assistance would
be granted when the inconme of an individual or a famly was insufficient to
support children. At what |evel was incone considered insufficient? Wen was
assi stance granted and for how |l ong? Who took those decisions? What soci al
nmeasures were taken beyond financial aid, such as hel ping the mai n wage-earner
find enpl oynent or providing re-education? Wen was the assistance

term nated?

63. M. SADI found the information in paragraphs 73 to 74 of the witten
replies very disturbing. Wy was there such a high Ilevel of violence anpong



E/ C. 12/ 1999/ SR. 4
page 11

children in a small country like Iceland with a fairly straightforward socia
systen? The violence, attributed to al coholism and drug abuse, was affecting
even tenth graders; how could those results be explained? Surely Iceland was
not doi ng enough to protect children, pursuant to its obligation under
article 10.

64. M. CEAUSU asked why, according to paragraph 94 of the report, it was
not possible to bring an official conmplaint to the Children' s Orbudsman since
he did not deal with individual cases? The office of the Orbudsman was set
up to defend the interests and rights of children, and in any country any
adm ni stration had the obligation to receive and exanmi ne conplaints by its
citizens; surely the limtation of the conpetence of the Onbudsman went
against the ains of that role and against the interests of children. He felt
that the fact that the Onbudsman had to present an annual report to the
Prime M nister conprom sed the i ndependence of the Orbudsman from al
executive control; a report to Parlianent would be nore appropriate
Evidently the institution was recent and perhaps with experience the | ega
base for its functions would inprove; but in order to defend the rights and
interests of children the procedures needed to be inproved to enable the
Onbudsman to receive and exam ne any conpl aints or conmmuni cations from
citizens.

65. M. AHMED believed the famly unit was central to the problenms under
di scussion. Ilceland was a rich, well-established country with a smal
popul ati on and adequate wealth. |In such a traditional and religious society,

it was hard to understand what was wong with the famly unit. What mde
children go awy, use drugs or alcohol, and quit their homes to |live on the
streets or with foster famlies? Foster hones and the abandonnent of children
were significant issues in lIceland. According to the Icelandic Human Rights
Centre, it was difficult to establish a famly in Iceland; anong the possible
reasons given for that were the excessive nunber of single parents and the
financial inplications of having children. Although couples with children had
a |l ower poverty rate than the unenpl oyed, students, farmers or single parents,
they did make up 55 per cent of the poverty popul ation. Could the del egation
comrent on whether the main strains on famlies were the financial aspects or
drug and al cohol related?

66. M. HUNT said it was clear that domestic violence was a real problem
Paragraph 91 of the witten replies nmentioned the three conm ttees appointed
by the Mnister of Justice to present proposals on inprovenents, and their
reports, according to paragraph 109 of the witten replies, had been presented
to Parliament in 1998. G ven the inmportance of the issues and the scal e of
the problem could the del egation give an update on the recomrendati ons
energing fromthose reports, the action to be taken and the tinetable for
action?

67. M. PILLAY felt the coments by the Committee on the Rights of the Child
in 1996 regarding the breakdown of famlies were pertinent and m ght explain
the problens. It appeared that the fam |y environnment was infringed by |ong
wor ki ng hours, and that not enough was being done to prevent children being

| eft alone; the insufficient availability of nursery places was al so of
concern. Wuld the del egation agree with that assessnment? What had been
done since 1996 to address those problens, and had the situation inproved?



E/ C. 12/ 1999/ SR. 4
page 12

68. Ms. JIMENEZ BUTRAGUENO asked about the role of grandparents.

In Spain, grandparents often hel ped out with grandchildren, and the
grandparent -grandchild rel ati onship was very inportant, not |east in passing
on traditions.

69. The CHAI RPERSON speaking in a personal capacity, said there were

| engt hy paragraphs with regard to domestic violence on needs, plans and
proposals, but very little was said about the concrete measures being taken.
Was there a special unit of Governnent to address the problemon the ground?
Were there safe houses where battered wonen coul d take refuge?

70. Ms. ARNLJOTSDOTTIR (lceland), replying to an earlier question by

M. Antanovi ch, explained that doctors had recommended that wonmen rest before
the birth, whence the discussions about the possibility of increasing
maternity | eave to seven nonths. |In the event the extension had not been
granted; instead, the right to take one nonth prior to the birth had been
allowed. State Social Security Institute maternity payments were the sane to
every person entitled to the full anount, around ISK 65, 000, although bankers
and civil servants received paynents conparable with salaries due to

coll ective agreements in their particular branches.

71. Wth regard to the Orbudsman, his role in npst countries was equival ent
to that in lIceland; it was hard to say whether that was sufficient. The
Icelandic Children's Orbudsman had petitioned on accidents involving children
and on the status of mentally ill children. H's requests had been dealt with
by the CGovernnment and projects had been initiated.

72. Replying to M. Ahnmed on the problens of drugs and the famly unit, she
poi nted out that drugs did not respect borders, so there would al ways be a
drug problemin lIceland as in any other country. Replying to M. Hunt on
donmestic violence, she was pl eased to announce that the Special Committee on
Wnen's Health had finished its report the previous nonth, and donestic

vi ol ence woul d henceforth be | ooked at as a health problem A special project
team woul d be appointed to see how the health service treated domestic

vi ol ence, and a task force would be set up within the next few weeks. There
was a special house for battered wonen and their children, and the roots of
the problem were al so being addressed by assisting husbands to overcone their
vi ol ent tendenci es.

73. Ms. BALDURSDOTTIR (I cel and) said that every community with nore

than 500 i nhabitants was obliged to set up a comrittee to work towards

achi eving equal rights between nmen and wonmen. |In accordance with article 41
of the Act on Municipalities, all such conmttees were authorized to nerge in
order to assune a |arger workload. For exanple, a comrttee on equality had
merged with a conmttee on social affairs.

74. Hal f the popul ation of Iceland |lived in Reykjavik which, in comopn with
Akureyri on the north coast, had a separate committee dealing with equality
bet ween nen and wonen. Both those conmittees had participated actively in
projects with Nordic and Baltic countries, and in European Union mainstreamn ng
projects. In Reykjavik, the woman mayor had officially proclained a policy of
achi eving equality between men and wonen. In relation to social assistance,
the country's report stated that when the incone of an individual or a famly



E/ C. 12/ 1999/ SR. 4
page 13

was insufficient to support them financial assistance would be granted. It
was the task of the commttees established to seek out those in need of
assi st ance.

75. In reply to the question raised by M. Sadi, it should be reiterated
that the problens of al coholismand drug abuse were difficult to deal wth.
However, the Governnent was organizing a project entitled “Drugless Iceland in
the Year 2002”. That was a European Uni on coordi nated project in which the

M nistries of Justice, Education, Social Affairs and Health partici pated.
Active and fruitful cooperation was also conducted with NGOs in the fight to
conbat drugs anongst teenagers. The role of NGOs was essential since the
Governnment and |l ocal authorities did not possess all the necessary resources
to overcone the problem

76. M. WNMER ZAMBRANO made a request for statistics to be provided, since
the docunents being considered did not contain any data relating to the nunber
of people taking drugs. Such information would help the Conmmittee to grasp
the seriousness of the situation

77. Ms. ARNLJOTSDOTTIR (I cel and) added that the Government had recently
contributed 1SK 200 million towards the building of a treatnent ward in a
private institution for dealing with alcohol and drug-related problens. A new
council had al so been established on al cohol and drug prevention which focused
on providing assistance to young peopl e.

78. M. CEAUSU referring to article 11, said that lceland' s report dealt
only with housing problens and failed to address the issue of food and
nutrition. That was a very inportant aspect of the right to an adequate
standard of living and should be considered in relation to the right to a
heal thy diet, possible problens of malnutrition and a proper variety of
foodstuffs.

79. Ms. ARNLJOTSDOTTIR (I cel and) said that the Mnistry of Health had
establ i shed a special council on nutrition which participated in WHO
activities. A new health plan had recently been proposed for the period up
to 2005. The new plan would concentrate on the diet of newborn children,

i.e. those between the ages of nought and two. The special council conprised
medi cal specialists, doctors and scientists.

80. M. TEXIER said that rather than just establishing whether people had a
bal anced diet, it should be ascertai ned whet her sone people did not have
enough to eat, i.e. were there people below the mnimuminconme level? If so,
what neasures had been taken to conbat mal nutrition?

81. Ms. ARNLJOTSDOTTIR (lcel and) said that the Mnistry of Health was
responsible for the diet and nutrition of the population, while |oca
authorities provided social assistance through the Mnistry of Social Affairs,
with commttees responsible for ensuring that people had enough food to eat.

82. Ms. BALDURSDOTTIR (I celand) reiterated the joint responsibility of the
two ministries in question. Furthernore, the problem of food shortages had
not previously arisen in |Iceland.




E/ C 12/ 1999/ SR. 4
page 14

83. Ms. JI MENEZ- BUTRAGUENO sai d that the Conmittee had considered al
necessary neasures to enhance the condition of public buildings. |In other
countries, nmodern forms of transport had been provided w thout suitable ranps
gi ving access to disabled people. That was a subject of great concern. By
extension, all public facilities, even old and very |large buil dings, should be
cl ean and accessible to all

84. M. CEAUSU referring to issues under article 12, said that the

I cel andi c authorities had envisaged a | aw designed to reduce tobacco snoking
anong young people. That |aw should be extended to other sections of the
popul ation. In application of the |law, was there a ban on snmoking in public
bui | di ngs and school playgrounds? Did tobacco advertising on television still
exist? Was there a real desire to reduce that terrible scourge? O her
problens with health-related effects al so existed, for exanple al coholism

As in other Nordic countries, were attenpts being made to reduce the sal e of
al cohol? Finally, was a programme in place to conmbat Al DS?

85. M. HUNT said that article 12, although I arge and conpl ex, was offered
only brief coverage in the report submtted by Iceland. Since the sane
observati on had been made by the wonen's conmittee (CEDAW in 1996, which had
expressed concern at the lack of information provided on wonen's health care,
a full report on article 12 would have been useful

86. Wth regard to health insurance, the country report stated that such

i nsurance provided free hospital treatnment and that insured persons paid a
smal|l fee for visits to family physicians and a flat fee plus 40 per cent of
the cost of specialist consultations. Wre the fees in question increasing
and, if so, by what percentage? |If the fees were increasing, was the

Gover nnment nonitoring whether the higher fees deterred poorer sections of the
popul ati on from seeki ng nedi cal hel p?

87. The new Act on the rights of patients represented a major advance. The
Act included special provisions on the right to make conplaints. However, the
conpl ai nts procedure was uncl ear and nore informati on was needed on that
aspect. It would be interesting to know whether a health onbudsman or

equi val ent health advocates exi sted who were trained to assist patients with
their conmplaints. Finally, a new statute dealing with a genetic database had
been passed. Were its provisions consistent with the new rights of patients?

88. M. RIEDEL reiterated that fuller information was necessary regarding
article 12. In relation to the new Act on the rights of patients, it was

i mportant to ascertain to what extent the Act reflected the legislative drafts
of the Council of Europe for a European Convention on bionmedi cine and

bi oethics. How was the subject of data protection dealt with in relation to
patients' rights and general health matters?

89. The CHAIRPERSON in reply to a question by M. Ceausu, confirned that
the text of the new Act on the rights of patients was available in English.

90. M s. JI MENEZ- BUTRAGUENO wonder ed whet her the recent drop in the sale of
medi ci nes and patients' services in many countries had al so occurred in
Iceland. Restrictions in typical treatnments for and rights of the elderly had




E/ C. 12/ 1999/ SR. 4
page 15

been inposed. Had such restrictions been borne in mnd by the Icelandic
authorities and were periodic reports issued on such ailnments as arthritis and
ost eoporosi s?

91. Ms. BALDURSDOTTIR (I cel and) said that the Governnent had recently
decided to participate in a pilot project in cooperation with Daim er-Benz and
Shell. The Governnent intended to establish a hydrogen-based conmunity in

whi ch the use of petrol engines for cars and vessels woul d be prohibited.

92. Ms. ARNLJOTSDOTTIR (Il cel and) said that her country had very strict

| egi sl ati on which banned snoking in all public places. Attenpts were being
made to ban it even in restaurants. Iceland participated actively in the
WHO St anding Committee for Europe. 1In a recent discussion on the advertising
and marketing of alcohol products, it had advocated banni ng al cohol
advertising conpletely, although such a ban could in future give rise to
problens in the European Union, which had stipulated that there should be no
di scrim nation agai nst al cohol adverti sing.

93. In reply to the question raised regarding health insurance, the fees
charged had recently been reduced. The maxi mum fee for treatnment was

| SK 5,000 and was nuch lower in health centres. Special rates applied to
treatment for the elderly, disabled and children. A maxi mum annual fee was in
pl ace and fam lies could obtain a card entitling themto further reductions.

It was pleasing to note that during a recent Nordic Council of Mnisters and
WHO conference in Copenhagen, it had been unani nously agreed that |celand had
made the nmost progress in achieving legal rights for patients in Europe. As
regards the conplaints procedure, it was henceforth possible to conplain
directly in institutions, follow ng a change in the Law on Physicians. The
Chi ef Medical Oficer was al so supposed to take care of conplaints and a
special committee, including a | awyer and two i ndependent heal th workers, was
also in place. Unfortunately, a patients' ombudsman did not exist but

material was currently being prepared on patients' rights to be distributed to
health professionals. Finally, the Lawrelating to a genetic database had
been the subject of recent discussions. It was conparable to the new Act on
the rights of patients.

94. M. WNMER ZAMBRANO reiterated his request for the provision of health
statistics.

The neeting rose at 6.05 p. m




